RECEIVED

08-24-2017

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT II

Case No. 2017AP000452-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JAMES E. GRAY,

Defendant-Appellant.

Appeal from Decision & Final Order Denying Postconviction Motions entered February 23, 2017 Waukesha County Circuit Court Case No. 2014 CF1072 The Honorable Ralph M. Ramirez, Presiding

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

JAMES A. WALRATH State Bar No. 1012151 Law Offices of James A. Walrath, LLC. 324 E. Wisconsin Ave., Suite 1400 Milwaukee, WI 53202 Tel: 414-202-2300

E-mail: jw@jaw-law.com

Attorney for Defendant - Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. Was the seizure of evidence that was used by the prosecution at trial tainted by an unjustified and unlawful "protective sweep" of Gray's residence while Gray was in custody at the Elm Grove Police Department? Judge Foster ruled that "a search to make sure that no one else was there" in the presence of Gray's girlfriend was "a protective search a protective sweep," but she did not expressly rule on whether the sweep was lawful (A. App. 26; R. 15 at 71). Judge Ramirez found Judge Foster did not "erroneously exercise her discretion" and that "there was a consent search." (A. App. 39-40; R. 91 at 39-40).
- 2. Was the evidence seized without the voluntary consent of Gray's live-in girlfriend? Judge Foster ruled that the girlfriend voluntarily consented to the search and seizures, as noted above and Judge Ramirez upheld her ruling, as noted above.
- 3. Was the evidence insufficient to support a jury verdict because there was no evidence that James Gray's conduct

involved an overt, affirmative representation that he was the accountholder on the credit and debit cards? Judge Ramirez ruled on post-conviction motions that "presentation [of the card] must have been done by someone who represented that they were the individual, that they had the authorization or consent to use them, or . the information or the card belonged to them." (A. App. 44; R. 91 at 44).

4. Was inadmissible testimony introduced at trial, as a substitute for in-court identifications of Gray as the perpetrator who had used the stolen financial transaction cards, through the opinions of witnesses that Gray appeared to be the person that was depicted by surveillance videos, and not by witness in-court identifications of Gray based on first-hand observation? Despite defense objections, Judge Ramirez ruled that the testimony was admissible. (R. 89 at 86-105) and ruled on post-conviction motions testimony that the was "observation identification" "opinion and not

identification" that assisted the jury and was not prejudicial. (A. App. 40; R.91 at 40).

5. Did the jury instruction improperly direct the jury to enter a verdict on the issue of whether the cards used by the perpetrator were "personal identifying information? (R. 89: 137) Judge Ramirez ruled on post-conviction motions that "common knowledge" indicates that credit and debit cards are "personal identifying information (A. App. 42; R. 91 at 42).

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument is appropriate in this case to the extent that appellant's arguments do not fall under Wis. Stat. (Rule) 809.22(2)(a); however, the briefs will likely fully develop the theories and legal authorities so that oral argument would be of marginal value.

Publication is appropriate because a decision will enunciate a new rule of law (for example, as to the limits of opinion identification testimony), and will clarify an existing rule (for example, as to when protective sweeps are permissible, and what proof is required under the fourth element in *Wis. Stat. § 943.201(2)* relating to representations by an accused about their identity).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 4, 2016, a jury found James E. Gray guilty of five felony counts of violations of Wis. Stat. § 943.201(2) for misappropriation of identification information to obtain money. Waukesha County Circuit Judge Ralph M. Ramirez entered a judgment of conviction (R. 45) on July 12, 2016 and sentenced defendant (R. 90) to serve concurrent terms of three years' initial confinement and two years' extended supervision on each count, but consecutive to existing sentences.

The core proceedings that preceded defendant's conviction included the filing of an amended complaint (A. App. 1-4; R. 3), a preliminary hearing (R. 68), and filing of a criminal information (A. App. 5-6; R. 8). Defendant filed a motion to suppress physical evidence seized from his

residence (A. App. 7-8; R. 15), which was litigated before Waukesha County Circuit Judge Kathyrn W. Foster (R. 77), and was denied for reasons stated on the record (A. App. 9-32) and by written order (A. App. 33; R. 16).

The trial commenced before Judge Ramirez on May 3, 2016, and continued on May 4 when he instructed the jury on the elements of the offense (A. App. 34-38; R. 89) and the jury rendered its verdict (R. 37).

Following extensions of time from this Court as requested by defendant's appellate counsel, a post-conviction motion was filed on January 16, 2017, and with a supporting memorandum on January 26, 2017. The motion was heard on February 23, 2017 (R. 91) and denied for reasons stated on the record (A. App. 39-45) and by written order that same date (R. 57). Defendant's notice of appeal of was timely filed on March 1, 2017 (R. 58).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Motion Hearing Facts

On September 15, 2014 Village of Elm Grove Assistant Chief of Police, Jason Hennen, learned that Kari Weiss-Jensen had reported her wallet and several credit cards stolen and that the cards had been used to make unauthorized purchases (R. 77:4).

Hennen then went to various store locations where unauthorized purchases had occurred that Weiss-Jensen had reported, and he viewed store security videos that depicted a person making purchases at the times when Weiss-Jensen's cards were used. Hennen testified that James E. Gray then became a suspect (R. 77:5). The videos depicted a male with a cane, while wearing a distinctive-styled sweater-shirt, who used a bi-fold wallet when making purchases. Gray was arrested that same date while at work in Milwaukee and he was taken to the Elm Grove Police Department. However, none of Weiss-Jensen's items were found on Gray when he was arrested (R. 77:5-6, 21).

Hennen testified that he continued the search, as officers "were still looking for those [stolen] items" (R. 77:6,

lines 13-15). So Hennen then went with Elm Grove Sgt. Ipavec and a City of Milwaukee uniformed officer to Gray's apartment in Milwaukee where they had contact with Gray's live-in girlfriend, Constance Vaughn (R. 77:7). Gray remained in custody at the police department (R 77:21).

Vaughn testified that the police used an intercom at the lobby entrance, representing that they were utility workers, and that they wanted her to meet them and allow them to enter (R. 77:35) Hennen testified that he could not recall, but that it was possible that the officers claimed to be utility workers for that purpose (R. 77:55). Once she opened the lobby entrance door, Vaughn could see that the intercom callers were police officers, who then asked if they could speak with her in the apartment. Vaughn then proceeded without her walker (R.36) (as she was disabled (R. 77:53)) to the apartment and the officers also entered.

Hennen "initially" (R. 77:8, line 17) conducted a "protective sweep" to "make sure no one else was there" while Ipavec stayed with Vaughn (R. 24). No one else was there (R. 77:8). While conducting the sweep (R. 77:58),

Hennen entered a bedroom and saw a clothes closet with the door open where he could see clothing in plain view similar to clothing depicted in the store security videos (R. 77:8-9). But Vaughn testified that the closet was packed so tightly with clothes that Hennen could not have identified clothes in plain view. (R. 77:38, 48).

Hennen then returned to the living room and told Vaughn he was looking for Gray's cane (R. 77:8, 11, 31) and he "asked to look around" (R. 77:10, line 25). Hennen testified that Vaughn gave permission by saying it was "fine" (R. 77:11), but Vaughn testified that Hennen made no request to search before he proceeded (R. 77:37, 40, 41). She testified that no written form was presented for her to indicate her consent (R. 77: 40), which also was Hennen's testimony (R. 77:17, 34). Vaughn testified that with three police officers in her apartment and Hennen acting like a "real hard ass" (R. 77: 51), she felt that Hennen was intimidating (R. 77:27, 50). So when he said that Gray was in custody and wanted his cane (R. 77:17-18, 30), and he asked where Gray's cane was kept,

she told Hennen it was in the front closet, where he then searched (R. 77:37).

Hennen testified that while conducting a search of the apartment he did not find a cane (R. 77:12), but he did find and seize a sweater shirt in the bedroom closet that was similar to the perpetrator's clothing in the videos ((R. 77:25), a credit card wallet from a dresser (R.77:13, 49). Sgt. Ipavec testified that Vaughn was never in police custody while he, Hennen, and the city officer were in the apartment (R. 77:33).

Trial Facts

In his opening statement the prosecutor explained that the State's case was based primarily on security camera videos from five stores that showed a person involved in the transactions for each count charged (R. 88:87) and physical evidence that included a black, beret-type hat that had been taken from Gray at his arrest, a sweater and bifold wallet seized from his apartment, and a black cane retrieved from his workplace. The prosecutor explained that the physical evidence, in his view, "shored up" the State's video evidence to tie Gray to the transactions. (R.88:88).

Kari Weiss-Jensen testified that someone had stolen her Capital One Mastercard and U.S. Bank Visa debit card from her purse while she had left it unsecured at an Elm Grove tennis club. (R. 88:92-97).

After his department was notified of her theft report, Elm Grove police officer Townsend obtained the card account numbers and learned from Weiss-Jensen that there were five store locations where the cards had been used without her consent. (R. 88: 106-107). Townsend went to each store location and, along with each store's staff, viewed security camera videos that showed a male individual using the cards for various retail purchases on September 7, 2014. Townsend identified the videos as trial exhibits: Exhibit 4 showed a Speedway gas station/convenience store station transaction in West Allis (R. 88:111) (referenced in Count 1); Exhibit 5 showed a transaction at a second Speedway station in West Allis (R. 88:111) (referenced in Count 2); Exhibit 6 showed a transaction at a third Speedway station in West Allis (R. 88:111) (referenced in Count 3); Exhibit 7 showed a transaction at an Advanced Auto Parts store in Milwaukee (R. 88:118-119) (referenced in Count 4); and Exhibit 2 showed a transaction at an Open Pantry store in Wauwatosa (R. 88:111) (referenced in Count 5).

Elm Grove police sergeant Ipavec testified that after he had learned that Gray walked with a cane, he went to Gray's apartment which he shared with Constance Vaughn because he was "looking for Gray's cane" (R. 88:126). During a search of the apartment Vaughn directed him to a place where she thought the cane was located, but it was not there (R. 88:127). Physical evidence was seized including: a brown sweater (Exhibit 8) from a closet, and a black bifold wallet (Exhibit 10) (R. 88:128-129). Ipavec testified that he had also conducted surveillance of Gray, and that Gray was seen driving a gray 2000 Impala convertible (R. 88:121).

Over defense objection Ipavec also stated that the person appearing in the video exhibits (R. 88:128-129, 131) was Gray, that the seized sweater (Exhibit 8) matched what Gray was wearing in the video (R. 88:127), that Gray was wearing a black beret (Exhibit 9) when he was arrested at his workplace that matched the beret that Gray was wearing in

the video (R. 88:129)¹ and that the video showed Gray using a cane (Exhibit 11), which was retrieved from his workplace (R. 88:131-132).

Store employees testified as follows: The first Speedway location's manager recalled that a male with a cane (R. 88:159), wearing a black beret and brown sweater (R. 88; 162) had swiped one card that was declined and a second card that was accepted (R. 88:160-161) to purchase Newport cigarettes. The second Speedway manager stated that the transaction video showed a man swiping a card and appearing to sign for a purchase (R. 89:22), while wearing a hat and a brown sweater similar to Exhibits 9 and 8 (R. 89:20). The third Speedway manager just identified a transaction journal showing that Weiss-Jensen's Mastercard was used, as shown in a video (Exhibit 6). The Advanced Auto Parts manager stated that a video (Exhibit 7) showed a customer using a cane and wearing a reddish-brown sweater during what

¹ Another Elm Grove officer later testified that he also participated in Gray's arrest at his workplace and that Exhibit 19 was a photo of the black beret that Gray was wearing at that time (R. 89:51, 55).

appeared to be a Mastercard credit card transaction (R. 88: 188, 191, 194) to purchase a catalytic converter (R.88:187, 192), which was marked as Exhibit 13. The manager agreed with the prosecutor that the store video (Exhibit 7) also showed a gray or beige Impala in the parking lot at that time (R. 88:195). Lastly, the Open Pantry manager stated that a video (Exhibit 2) of the transaction being investigated showed a customer who was using a cane (R. 89:47).

An Elm Grove police detective testified that he had recovered the catalytic converter (Exhibit 13) on October 3, 2014 at a location near the Gray/Vaughn apartment building and that Vaughn had taken him to that location to recover the converter. (R. 89:74-76).

Finally, there was other witness testimony that paralleled Sgt. Ipavec's assertions (R. 88: 128, 141) that the video exhibits showed James Gray as the customer in the transactions. Shelly Zais, who was a neighbor living in Gray's apartment building, testified that it was Gray who was depicted in still photographs (Exhibits 20, 21, and 22) that

had been prepared from the videos (R. 89:84, 87-89). However, neither Weiss-Jensen nor any store employee made an in-court identification of Gray, by pointing to him as the person involved in the theft or the card transactions.

ARGUMENT

I. Physical evidence that was critical to the prosecution was obtained as the fruit of an unlawful, protective sweep of Gray's residence.

At trial the prosecution conceded that the physical evidence that was seized from Gray's apartment (i.e., the sweater and the bifold wallet), just following the protective sweep, and the retrieval of the black cane at his workplace, soon after the apartment sweep and search failed to turn up the cane, was critical to proving up its case. The prosecutor emphasized to the jury that the seized evidence "will help foster the case or shore up the case." (R. 88:88). Indeed, the sweater shirt was used to claim that it directly tied defendant Gray to the crimes scenes and the wallet was used to claim

² Zais admitted, as it related to her credibility, that she had four prior criminal convictions.

that it matched the mode by which he carried the cards that were used to commit the crimes.

Judge Foster erred when she denied the motion to suppress because the unlawful sweep tainted the subsequent apartment search. Oddly, Judge Foster never ruled that the sweep itself was lawful, despite the clarity of the defense motion (R.15, ¶ 5) that challenged "a protective sweep" in which the police "moved round into every room." Hence, it also was error for Judge Ramirez to uphold the protective sweep and search by using an abuse of discretion standard: Judge Foster, by not addressing the protective sweep issue, never exercised discretion, much less discussed and considered the Fourth Amendment law on protective sweeps.

A. The Wisconsin Supreme Court has not approved warrantless, law enforcement sweeps of residences where officers are in a home to conduct witness interviews.

James Gray was arrested at his workplace, not at his apartment. Tellingly, no officer who arrested him testified to conducting a protective sweep where he was arrested. Yet the first police incursion into the Gray/Vaughn apartment was a

protective sweep into rooms and areas beyond Vaughn's living room sofa, even though she clearly was disabled and was never arrested.

The necessary predicate for a limited, warrantless sweep is the in-home arrest of a suspect. This exception to the Fourth Amendment's requirement that a judicial search warrant must otherwise precede police of searches of homes, was explicated in *Maryland v. Buie*, 494 U.S. 325, 336–37 (1990).

The Fourth Amendment permits a properly limited protective sweep *in conjunction with an in-home arrest* when the searching officer possesses a reasonable belief based on specific and articulable facts that the area to be swept harbors an individual posing a danger to those on the arrest scene.

(Emphasis added.) In *Buie*, the Supreme Court also asserted that a protective sweep "occurs as an adjunct to the serious step of taking a person into custody for the purpose of prosecuting him for a crime." 494 U.S. at 333. "[A]rresting officers are permitted . . . to take reasonable steps to ensure their safety after, and while making, the arrest." *Id.* at 334. "We also hold that *as an incident to arrest* the officers could,

as a precautionary matter . . . , look in closets and other spaces immediately adjoining the place of arrest" *Id*. (emphasis added).

The Wisconsin Supreme Court similarly restricted the scope of protective sweeps to in-home arrest situations. In *State v. Murdock*, 155 Wis.2d 217, 233, 455 N.W.2d 618, 625 (1990), the Court stated:

[T]he arrestee in this case does not lose his constitutionally protected privacy interest in his home. However, this court concludes that *the fact of a lawful custodial arrest in the home justifies a limited infringement* of that privacy interest to include a search into closed areas within the immediate area of the arrestee.

(Emphasis added.) Later, citing and quoting from *Buie*, the Court in *State v. Sanders*, 2008 WI 85, ¶¶ 32-33, 311 Wis.2d 257, 269–70, 752 N.W.2d 713, 719 stated:

The protective sweep doctrine applies once law enforcement officers are inside an area, including a home. Once inside an area a law enforcement officer may perform a warrantless "protective sweep," that is, "a quick and limited search of premises, *incident to an arrest* and conducted to protect the safety of police officers or others." * * *

The protective sweep extends "to a cursory inspection of those spaces where a person may be found" and may last "no longer than is necessary to dispel the reasonable suspicion of danger and in any event *no longer than it takes to complete the arrest* and depart the premises."

(Emphasis added; citations omitted; footnote omitted.)³

Older Wisconsin Court of Appeals decisions followed the *Buie/Murdock/Sanders* limit on protective sweeps, such as *State v. Kruse*, 175 Wis.2d 89, 499 N.W.2d 185 (Ct.App.1993). But more recent decisions have expanded the permissible context for protective sweeps to at least one other situation: where officers are properly engaged in a community caretaking function, as discussed in *State v. Horngren*, 2000 WI App 177, ¶¶ 20-21, 238 Wis.2d 347, 357, 617 N.W.2d 508, 513. *See also*, *State v. Kucik*, 2011 WI App 1, ¶¶ 48, 2010 WL 4633082, at *11 (nonprecedential decision);

_

³ Other appellate courts that have limited protective sweeps to arrest settings include: *U.S. v. Davis*, 290 F.3d 1239, 1242 n. 4 (10th Cir.2002) (not a "protective sweep" when police enter a home where no one is under arrest and there is not even probable cause to arrest anyone); *U.S. v. Johnson*, 170 F.3d 708, 716 (7th Cir.1999) (limiting "protective sweep" under *Buie* to sweeps conducted pursuant to an arrest for which there was a warrant.); *State v. Cromer*, 186 S.W.3d 333, 346 (Mo. App. 2005) ("There can be no protective sweep when 'police enter a home where no one is under arrest and there is not even probable cause to arrest anyone." (citation omitted.)

and *State v. Cervantes*, 2013 WI App 41, ¶¶ 21-22, 2013 WL 500399, at *6–7 (nonprecedential decision).⁴

Here, the Elm Grove police sought to interview Constance Vaughn, believing she was a witness to where Gray had placed a cane, a sweater, and a wallet. She was not under arrest and there were no exigent circumstances, as the police were simply questioning her as a possible witness to the location of the sought-after evidence.

But there is no Wisconsin decision that approves of police sweeps incident to their conducting witness interviews.

The controlling Wisconsin Supreme Court precedent set in
Murdock and Sanders on warrantless protective sweeps of
residences limits them to in-home arrest situations; the

-

⁴ In dicta in a footnote in a single-judge opinion in *State v. Phillips*, 2016 WI App 57, 370 Wis. 2d 787, 882 N.W.2d 871, Judge Hruz wrote that another permissible context for protective sweeps could be where officers have justifiably entered a home under the exigent circumstances exception to the warrant requirement. Here, the prosecution never claimed that officers entered the apartment due to exigent circumstances, or for a community caretaking purpose.

precedent has never permitted such sweeps to extend to inhome witness interviews.⁵

B. The necessary factual predicate for a protective sweep did not exist.

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