## RECEIVED

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN 11-10-2017

#### COURT OF APPEAL **CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN**

#### DISTRICT II

Case No. 2017AP452-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JAMES E. GRAY,

Defendant-Appellant.

#### APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDER DENYING A POSTCONVICTION MOTION ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR WAUKESHA COUNTY, THE HONORABLE RALPH M. RAMIREZ, PRESIDING

#### **BRIEF OF THE PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT**

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

JENNIFER R. MCNAMEE Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1098838

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

#### ARGUMENT

#### I. Assuming that the police obtained evidence from Gray's apartment in violation of the Fourth Amendment, any error in admitting that evidence at trial was harmless.

On appeal, Gray argues that the shirt and bifold wallet confiscated from his apartment by the police should have been suppressed because they were the fruit of an unlawful protective sweep. (Gray's Br. 19–28.) Gray further contends that even if Vaughn had consented to the subsequent search, her consent was tainted by the unlawful protective sweep and was, therefore, involuntary. (Gray's Br. 28–32.) The State interprets Gray's argument to mean that Vaugh's consent was not sufficiently attenuated from the protective sweep such that it could justify the search.

Although the State disagrees with much of Gray's legal analysis of the protective sweep doctrine and therefore does not concede a Fourth Amendment violation, the State focuses on harmless error because it provides the narrowest grounds for affirmance. *State ex rel. Rupinski v. Smith*, 2007 WI App 4, ¶ 30 n.4, 297 Wis. 2d 749, 728 N.W.2d 1 (citing *State v. Blalock*, 150 Wis. 2d 688, 703, 442 N.W.2d 514 (Ct. App. 1989) ("[C]ases should be decided on the narrowest possible grounds.")).

#### A. Standard of review

"Whether an error was harmless presents a question of law that [an appellate court] reviews *de novo*." State v. *Echols*, 2013 WI App 58, ¶ 15, 348 Wis. 2d 81, 831 N.W.2d 768.

## B. Any error in admitting the items found in Gray's home (the shirt and bifold wallet) was harmless.

A court's erroneous admission of evidence is subject to harmless error analysis. *State v. Britt*, 203 Wis. 2d 25, 41, 553 N.W.2d 528 (Ct. App. 1996). "For an error to be harmless, the party who benefitted from error must show that 'it is clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have found the defendant guilty absent the error." *State v. Deadwiller*, 2013 WI 75, ¶ 41, 350 Wis. 2d 138, 834 N.W.2d 362 (quoting *State v. Martin*, 2012 WI 96, ¶ 45, 343 Wis. 2d 278, 816 N.W.2d 270). "In other words, 'an error is harmless if the beneficiary of the error proves beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict obtained." *Id.* (quoting *Martin*, 343 Wis. 2d 278, ¶ 45).

This Court considers "the totality of the circumstances" to determine whether an error was harmless. State v. Hunt, 2014 WI 102, ¶ 29, 360 Wis. 2d 576, 851 N.W.2d 434. In doing so, it may consider several nonexhaustive factors, including: "the importance of the erroneously admitted or excluded evidence; the presence or absence of evidence corroborating or contradicting the erroneously admitted or excluded evidence; the nature of the defense; the nature of the State's case; and the overall strength of the State's case." Id. ¶ 27 (citation omitted).

Here, the admission of the shirt and the bifold wallet was harmless for at least two reasons.

First, neither the shirt nor the wallet were important at trial. Regarding the shirt, as the prosecutor acknowledged during his closing argument, some witnesses testified that the shirt was brown, whereas other witnesses testified that the shirt was "reddish." (R. 89:150.) The prosecutor also acknowledged that the shirt appeared different depending on the quality of the video: "You can't base anything on the color of Mr. Gray's shirt in that video unless you believe the color in the video" (R. 89:158), and "In the video, he was wearing a shirt -- the color was once again in question -- the hat, the cane. He's got all of these things" (R. 89:162). Given that, the prosecutor argued that he believed the shirt was consistent with the shirt in the videos, but he also told the jury that "even if it's not, it doesn't have to be the same shirt." (R. 89:150.) Thus, although the prosecutor regularly referred to the shirt throughout trial and closing argument, he recognized its limited evidentiary value and relied most heavily on the surveillance videos, Gray's beret-style hat, and his cane.

As for the wallet, the prosecutor discussed it twice over the course of the entire trial. During his opening statement, the prosecutor explained that the store clerk from Advanced Auto Parts would testify that Gray used a bifold wallet when he purchased the catalytic converter and that Sergeant Ipavec would testify that he found a bifold wallet on Gray's dresser. (R. 88:88.) The prosecutor elicited that testimony from Sergeant Ipavec (R. 88:129), but he never elicited the proposed testimony from the Advanced Auto Parts employee. The prosecutor did not mention the wallet during his closing argument, and Gray pointed out that the wallet was irrelevant because the jury "heard nothing about [it] that lead[] to James Gray." (R. 89:176.) In short, the wallet did not help, and may have even hurt, the State's case against Gray.

Second, the State had a strong case and presented overwhelming evidence of guilt at trial. If the shirt and the wallet were excised from the trial, the State still had the surveillance videos, the beret-style hat, and the cane. That evidence, in particular the videos, convinced the jury to convict Gray. During his closing argument, the prosecutor told the jury to "go back to the most obvious thing in this case which is: Does that person committing this transaction look like James? I'm going to submit to you that this whole case – other than perhaps the Open Pantry count where the video was so poor, should be easy." (R. 89:150.) The prosecutor went on, "I looked at the video. I saw the video, and that's James Gray. That's what I think. I don't have any doubt. . . . I think you should not have any doubt as a result, because you have seen the same view." (R. 89:150–51.) Thus, here, all the jury had to do to find Gray guilty was review the surveillance videos. Because the jury would have convicted Gray based on the surveillance videos, the beretstyle hat, and the cane, any error by the court in admitting the shirt and the wallet was harmless.

#### II. Assuming that the court erred in admitting Sergeant Ipavec's limited testimony identifying Gray as the subject in the surveillance video, the error was harmless.

Relying on cases from other jurisdictions, Gray argues that a witness may identify a person depicted in a video or photograph only when there is some basis for concluding that the witness is more likely to correctly identify the defendant than the jury; otherwise, such an identification invades the province of the jury. (Gray's Br. 39–43.) Applying that principle here, Gray claims that Sergeant Ipavec should not have been allowed to identify Gray in the surveillance videos because the State failed to lay an adequate foundation for why Sergeant Ipavec was more likely than the jury to correctly identify Gray in the videos. (Gray's Br. 41–43.)

Although the State disagrees with Gray's recitation of identification law (specifically his reliance on outside jurisdictions), the State focuses on harmless error because it again provides the narrowest grounds for affirmance. It is true that Sergeant Ipavec inadvertently identified Gray by calling the individual in the video "Gray" in the course of describing what he observed in the video a handful of times at trial. The following exchange is representative of how that occurred in all four instances:

Q: Did you in searching the apartment find anything of what you consider evidentiary value in this case?

A: Yes, throughout this case, we had obtained video surveillance from the different stores where the credit card was used. And in that video surveillance –

[Defense counsel]: Object to the witness's characterization of the video surveillance.

The Court: Overruled. You may continue.

[A]: In that video surveillance, Mr. Gray was observed wearing specific clothing. Specifically, I was looking for a brown sweater. And as I looked into the master bedroom in the closet, I observed a brown sweater which was consistent with the one that Mr. Gray was wearing the day the credit cards were used.

Q (By [the prosecutor]): And did you - in the search of the apartment, did you find the cane?

A: We did not.

Q: Now, when you -- was there anything significant about a -- about a hat that was found in this case?

A: Yes, again, in the surveillance videos Mr. Gray is observed wearing a beret-style --

[Defense counsel]: Objection to characterization of Mr. Gray being in the video.

[The Prosecutor]: Let's –

The Court: Overruled. You can continue.

Q ([The prosecutor]): Did you in fact find a similar hat to the one you had seen in the videos in relationship to Mr. Gray that day?

A: I did. He was wearing a hat similar to that.

(R. 88:127–28 (emphasis added); *see also* 88:137, 141.) Here, the admission of that limited testimony was harmless for the four reasons below.

First, Sergeant Ipavec's identification of Gray in the video was limited to four small instances. (R. 88:127–28, 137, 141.) In a case that covered two days, spanned 426 pages of trial transcripts, and involved 12 witnesses, Sergeant Ipavec's four statements inadvertently calling the person in the video "Gray," did not stand out. This is especially true since Sergeant Ipavec also sometimes avoided calling the person in the video "Gray" and instead referred to him as the "person" (R. 88:131), and the prosecutor consistently referred to the person in the video as the "subject" or the "person" (R. 88:128, 131).

Second, the jury heard other unobjected-to testimony from Zais, in which she, at the State's request, identified Gray as the person in the surveillance videos. (R. 89:85–89.) Specifically, Zais, based on her lengthy relationship with Gray, initialed still photographs from the surveillance videos that she believed contained Gray. (R. 89:84–89, 94.) Thus, Sergeant Ipavec's limited identification was merely cumulative of other evidence the jury heard.

Third, the prosecutor, in his closing argument, told the jury to draw its own conclusion about whether Gray was the person in the surveillance videos. (R. 89:150–51.) For example, he said, "There's a gentleman in the video conducting this transaction. The State contends it is Mr. Gray. You can draw that conclusion yourself because you can see Mr. Gray sitting over there." (R. 89:149.) And he said, "We had Shelly Zais look at some of the photographs. She believed the person in the videos was Mr. Gray. So if she believed that, does that mean you should? No. You're allowed to make your own opinions. You can look at those photos. . . .[A]t the end of the day, it is up to you." (R. 89:163.)

Finally, as explained in the previous section, even without Sergeant Ipavec's comments referring to the person in the videos as "Gray", the State had a strong case against Gray because it had the surveillance videos. In all the videos, the same individual, identified as Gray by another witness, wearing the same beret-style hat and walking with the same cane, used one of KJ's cards (most often her credit card) to pay for the same items (cigarettes) in all but one occasion (when Gray bought the catalytic converter that was later recovered by Detective Meyers). Because the evidence overwhelmingly pointed to Gray, any error in admitting Sergeant Ipavec's statements referring to the individual in the videos as "Gray" was harmless.

#### III. Gray forfeited his argument that the circuit court erred in admitting Zais's identification by failing to object to her testimony.

Gray also claims that the circuit court erred when it allowed Zais to identify Gray from still photographs from the surveillance videos. (Gray's Br. 38–41.) Gray argues that Zais should not have been allowed to identify Gray in the surveillance videos because the State failed to lay an adequate foundation for why Zais was more likely than the jury to correctly identify Gray in the videos. (Gray's Br. 40– 41.) This Court should not reach the merits of this claim because Gray failed to object to Zais's statements that Gray was the person in the photographs taken from the surveillance videos.

#### A. Standard of review

"Whether a party objected to the admissibility of evidence in a manner sufficient to preserve the issue for appeal," is a "question of law that [courts] review de novo." *State v. Peters*, 166 Wis. 2d 168, 174, 479 N.W.2d 198 (Ct. App. 1991).

# B. Gray failed to object to Zais's identification; thus, he forfeited his argument challenging its admission.

The "failure to object constitutes a forfeiture of the right on appellate review." *State v. Ndina*, 2009 WI 21, ¶ 30, 315 Wis. 2d 653, 761 N.W.2d 612. "[T]o preserve his right to appe[llate review] on a question of admissibility of evidence, a defendant must apprise the trial court of the specific grounds upon which the objection is based." *Peters*, 166 Wis. 2d at 174.

"The purpose of the 'forfeiture' rule is to enable the circuit court to avoid or correct any error with minimal disruption of the judicial process, eliminating the need for appeal." *Ndina*, 315 Wis. 2d 653, ¶ 30 (citation omitted). The rule "also gives both parties and the court notice of the issue and a fair opportunity to address the objection," "encourages attorneys to diligently prepare for and conduct trials," and "prevents attorneys from 'sandbagging' opposing counsel by failing to object to an error for strategic reasons and later claiming that the error is grounds for reversal." *Id*. (citation omitted).

Here, after eliciting background information about Zais's relationship with Gray, the prosecutor asked Zais to identify the person in the surveillance videos. (R. 89:84–89.) Specifically, the prosecutor asked, "There's a gentleman in [the still photographs from the surveillance videos] that's featured. Do you recognize that person?" (R. 89:86.) Zais proceeded to identify Gray as the person in the photographs by initialing the photographs in which she recognized the person in them as Gray. (R. 89:86–89.) She initialed two of four pictures presented to her. (R. 89:87–88.)

Although Gray objected numerous times to Sergeant Ipavec's statements that the person in the videos was "Gray," he never once objected to Zais's testimony that the person in two of the four pictures was "Gray." (R. 89:84–89.) As a result, Gray forfeited his right to challenge Zais's testimony on appeal.

And regardless, the State laid a sufficient foundation for Zais's identification of Gray from the photographs from the surveillance videos. Zais testified that she has known Gray for a number of years. (R. 89:84–85, 94.) Zais was Gray's neighbor at the time of the crimes, and the two had ridden in a car together on a few different occasions. (R. 89:84–86, 104.) When asked on re-direct examination, Zais confirmed that she has "known and [has] been in close proximity to Mr. Gray [on] a number of occasions over at least a multi-year period." (R. 89:104.) Moreover, Zais indicated familiarity with Gray's beret-style hat and his cane. (R. 89:95.) Specifically, when asked how she knew it was Gray in the photographs, she replied, "Because of the fact I know him, and he's walking with his cane and the hat." (R. 89:95.)

Finally, Gray claims that the low quality nature of the photographs should cut against Zais being allowed to identify Gray. To the contrary, an identification is even more helpful to the jury when the photograph or video is of low quality. *See United States v. White*, 639 F.3d 331, 336 (7th Cir. 2011) (noting that when video quality is "not the best," a witness who knows the defendant can "provide the jury with helpful insight regarding the true identity of the man shown in the surveillance video ....").

In short, this Court should conclude that Gray forfeited his argument by failing to object to Zais's testimony. Nevertheless, Zais's identification was proper and helpful to the jury.

## IV. Gray waived his jury instruction argument by failing to object to it.

Gray claims that the circuit court improperly instructed the jury on the first element of identity theft when it told the jury that a credit or debit card is personal identifying information. (Gray's Br. 43.) Gray believes that the instruction "was, in effect, a directive, that the jury had no choice but to find that, as to the 'use' element of the offense, the defendant used 'personal identifying information,' an elemental fact in the offense." (Gray's Br. 43.) Gray, however, waived his right to challenge that instruction when he failed to object to it.

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